Sugarcreek Livestock Auction and Leroy Baker
Summary of Violations – An Animals’Angels Investigation
Introduction:
Sugarcreek auction, located in the heart of Amish Country in Ohio, is one of the main slaughter
auctions in the United States. Every Friday, kill buyers gather and buy approx. 95% of all horses that
go through the sale. One of them is Leroy Baker, owner of Sugarcreek auction. In 2009, Baker
shipped 3287 horses to plants in Canada and Mexico.¹
Baker has been in the horse slaughter buisness for more than a decade and has an astonishing long list
of violations of humane laws. On October 1, 2008, Baker was convicted by USDA Adminstrative
Law Judge Jill Clifton to pay a fine of $162,800.00 for multiple violations of the Commercial
Transport of Equines to Slaughter Regulations.² However, a recent FOIA request obtained by
Animals’ Angels shows that Baker has not paid a cent of this fine. On October 7, 2010 the United
States District Court/Northern Ohio District/Eastern Division ordered Baker to pay $172,621.66.³
Animals’ Angels has investigated Sugarcreek Auction since 2007 and has documented incredible
abuse and cruelty committed by Leroy Baker and his employees. We have filed countless complaints
and several cases are pending against Baker based on our evidence. This report summarizes all the
violations and events.

Violation History:
1. Violations of 49 U.S.C. § 80502 (28 Hour Transport Law)
(a) Confinement.--(1) Except as provided in this section, a rail carrier, express carrier, or
common carrier (except by air or water), a receiver, trustee, or lessee of one of those carriers,
or an owner or master of a vessel transporting animals from a place in a State, the District of
Columbia, or a territory or possession of the United States through or to a place in another
State, the District of Columbia, or a territory or possession, may not confine animals in a
vehicle or vessel for more than 28 consecutive hours without unloading the animals for
feeding, water, and rest.

¹ Source: Ohio Department of Agriculture
² A.Q. Docket No. 08-0074
³ CASE NO.: 5:09 CV 2897
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-

USDA Case # OH08116
Summary of events:
On January 26, 2008 Animals’ Angels
investigators followed one of Baker’s double deck
trucks loaded with 43 horses from Sugarcreek
Auction all the way to Morton, TX. The transport
took 36 hours and 15 minutes. Investigators
documented the entire transport route and
submitted all the evidence to the USDA.
Status: Three years later, the case is still
pending

-

OH F-8400-C Shipment of pigs infected with avian tuberculosis

Summary of events:
On March 11, 2006 Baker bought 398 pigs (two truckloads) from Egbert Livestock, who were
infected with avian tuberculosis. On March 13, Baker then transported the pigs to New Holland
Auction in Pennsylvania (573 miles), where they were refused unloading upon arrival at 9:30am. On
March 14, Baker managed to find a slaughter plant in Iowa willing to buy the animals. The trucks
arrived in Sioux City, IA on March 15, 9:00am. (1266 miles) By then, the pigs had been on the trailer
for more than 48 hours. According to court testimony, 8 pigs were dead upon arrival and multiple pigs
had urine burns. 22 pigs were “missing” and Baker had no explanation what had happened to them.
Status: USDA never filed charges against Baker for this violation of the 28 hour law, despite the
fact that the transport times were stated and agreed upon in Ohio court documents.
On May 29, 2007, Baker’s livestock dealer license was suspended for one year for his involvement in
the sale of these diseased pigs. In violation of Ohio law, he continued to buy and sell without a license
for more than 2 months, until the Ohio Department of Agriculture issued Sugarcreek Livestock
Auction, Inc. a new license. (7/30/2007) When Animals’ Angels informed State Veterinarian Dr.
Forshey about the fact that Baker continued to buy horses without a license, all he responded was:
“Well, technically, he is not supposed to…”

2. Violations of the Commercial Transport of Equines to Slaughter Regulations 9
C.F.R. § 88 et seq.
(All information obtained by Freedom of Information Act Request)
Number of violations: 35 (this number reflects only the violations we received from the USDA, the
real number might be even higher)
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Violations:
 Owner/shipper papers not filled out correctly. No date or time of loading noted. Not stating
that the horses had access to food, water and rest for 6 hours prior to loading.
 No back tags on horses and not recording backtags on paperwork.
 Delivering horses outside slaughter plant hours.
 Use of trailer with large holes to transport slaughter horses.
 Not segregating stallions from other horses.
 Shipping blind horses.
 Shipping severely injured horses.
 Shipping horses that could not bear weight on all 4 limbs.
 Shipping horses that went down during transport and had to be euthanized upon arrival at the
plant.
 Shipping horses that were dead upon arrival at plant.
Examples:
-

TX04246-VS: 43 horses transported in double deck trailer. Two horses dead upon arrival at
the Texas plant. Driver stated that one horse had been down since Oklahoma City. Driver
acted “as if this was no uncommon occurrence in the transportation of horses.”

-

TX06024-VS: 42 horses transported in double deck trailer. Driver noticed en route that horses
on upper level were kicking a bay Thoroughbred mare in the ribs. He said it appeared that “
her ribs were kicked into her lungs and that she was bleeding from her nose with a bubble.”

-

TX05170-VS: One horse dead upon arrival at the plant. Blind horse with severe wound in
center of forehead in shipment. One horse with severe hind leg injury in shipment.

-

TX07151-VS: Two horses dead upon arrival at the plant on 12/26/06. One horse dead upon
arrival at the plant and three horses down on 1/7/07.

-

TX06401-VS: One horse dead upon arrival at the plant at 8/6/06. One horse down in the
trailer, had to be euthanized. One horse with hind leg injury, unable to bear weight on all four
legs. Four non segregated stallions in shipment (7/16/06)

-

TX06130-VS: One horse dead upon arrival at the plant. One horse arrived non ambulatory and
had to be euthanized. Five non segregated stallions in shipment.

3. Shipment of Horses to Texas without valid Coggins Papers
Texas Administrative Code Title 4, Part II Chapter 49, 49.2. Interstate Movement
Requirements
(a) Equine infectious anemia (EIA) requirements. All horses, mules, asses, ponies, zebras and any
other equidae must have been tested and found to be negative to an official test for EIA within 12
months prior to entering Texas.
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Information received regarding Coggins Test Procedures at Sugarcreek Auction:
“ EIA samples from Sugarcreek Livestock Auction are most generally received via UPS on Tuesday .
Tests results are available within 24 hours upon receipt of the sample at the Animal Disease
Diagnostic Laboratory. Test results are mailed to the submitting veterinarian the same day results are
available. Tests results are sent out to the submitting veterinarian on Wednesday before 2pm through
a priority US mailer provided by the submitting veterinarian.”
Fact: Animals’ Angels has obtained the Coggins
papers from the Ohio Department of Agriculture
for the shipment of horses we followed to Morton
on January 25, 2008. Each test result matches a
slaughter tag of one of the horses on the trailer.
However, the test results were issued on January
30, 2008 – which proves that the horses on the
trailer were shipped with false papers.
Status: No charges were filed and no fines
assessed; the Texas Department of Animal Health
inspected some of Baker’s transports after given
notice about the upcoming inspection to the
Morton feedlot. Baker changed his shipping schedule and holds the horses in his barn now until the
EIA test results have been returned to him.

4) Violations of Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations
Example:
Part 395 Hours of Service Regulations
§395.3 Maximum driving time for property-carrying vehicles.
(a) No motor carrier shall permit or require any driver used by it to drive a property-carrying
commercial motor vehicle, nor shall any such driver drive a property-carrying commercial motor
vehicle:
(a)(1) More than 11 cumulative hours following 10 consecutive hours off duty; or
(a)(2) For any period after the end of the 14th hour after coming on duty following 10 consecutive
hours off duty…
Leroy Baker also owns his own trucking company, Sugarcreek Trucking Inc. According to public
records, the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio conducted several compliance reviews at Sugarcreek
Trucking and each time multiple violations of Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations were found:
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- 382.301(a) Failing to have driver undergo pre-employment drug test
- 395.3(b)(2) Requiring/permitting a property-carrying commercial motor vehicle driver
to drive after having been on duty more than 70hrs in 8 days
- 395.8(a) Failing to require driver to make a record of duty status
- 396.11(a) Failing to require driver to prepare vehicle inspection report
- 395.3 (a) (1) Requiring or permitting a property-carrying commercial motor vehicle driver to drive
more than 11 hours

5. Violations of Ohio Animal Protection Laws
(All evidence obtained by undercover investigations)
OH ST § 959.01-99 Cruelty to animals
1)Torture an animal, deprive one of necessary sustenance, unnecessarily or cruelly beat, needlessly
mutilate or kill, or impound or confine an animal without supplying it during such confinement with a
sufficient quantity of good wholesome food and water;
3) Carry or convey an animal in a cruel or inhuman manner;
OH ST § 959.02 Injuring Animals
No person shall maliciously, or willfully, and without the consent of the owner, kill or injure a horse,
mare, foal, filly, jack, mule, sheep, goat, cow, steer, bull, heifer, ass, ox, swine, dog, cat, or other
domestic animal that is the property of another.
Date: 1/12/07
Observations:
Pens were extremely overcrowded, resulting in constant kicking and biting.
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Some of the horses were severely emaciated, several had eye infections. In one of the back pens,
investigators found one horse down. When they entered the pen, the horse showed no reaction.
(Sale tag #482) Investigators were told that that she had been brought in that morning and that she had
been down ever since.

Investigators informed the auction veterinarian about the horse, who refused to do anything.
Date: 1/11/08
Observations:
Investigators counted approximately 160 horses. Water troughs were empty in all pens. Again, too
many horses were put together in one pen, despite the fact that several other pens were empty. Horses
of all sizes and genders were forced into that pen and they were biting and kicking each other in fear.
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1.30pm: The horse sale started and workers moved large groups of horses together closer to the
auction ring. Heavy hitting forced the horses to run towards the end of the isle at full speed, where
they then came to a sudden stop and panicked, because the gate is closed and there is nowhere to go.
The worker there beat them again in an attempt to separate them for the auction ring.

Several horses crashed into the wooden gates, stumbled, fell or tried to jump the gates in panic. One
smaller mare was kicked in the head by another horse trying to escape – she fell down and died on the
spot.
Date: 1/25/08
Observations:
Inside the pen area there were approximately 120 horses. Several of the water troughs were empty.
Again, all the horses likely to be sold for slaughter were put together in one pen. The pen was very
overcrowded and the horses were kicking and biting each other.
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The handling again was very rough. The workers didn’t have any patience while moving the horses
through the isle and to the auction ring, which caused several horses to panic and crush into gates.

Workers used wooden stick excessively beating the horses on the head and the hip bones. The animals
were very outraged and rushed through the pens. This led to one horse going down and being
trampled by others. Luckily she managed to get up again. At this point, she was severely limping and
– without anybody paying attention to the injury - was moved into one of the kill buyer’s pens.
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Horse being trampled by others

Panicked horses on top of trampled horse

Date: 1/16/09
Observations:
In two of the pens, there were 33 horses that Baker had bought the week before. All of them had the
green USDA slaughter tag attached. It was a very cold day and the horses that had been in the barn
overnight were covered with ice. One horse inside the “kill pen” was dead.

.
1/17/09
Baker’s horses were still in the pens. We observed several horses with yellowish nasal discharge. One
horse had an ear injury which was bleeding and appeared to be fresh.
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Horse with nasal discharge
Date: 6/19/09
Observations :
One horse with hind leg injury and fresh cut above the right eye in pen with cows in the back of the
barn. The leg was wrapped in a purple bandage and the horse held the leg up continuously.
Veterinarian was not observed checking on the horse.

Date: 1/22/10
Observations:
One horse found dead in the parking lot.
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There were approximately 170 horses at the auction. One mare, tag # 739, was severely emaciated.

It is a crime in Ohio to allow a horse to get in this kind of condition, Sugarcreek auction or the
veterinarian working at the auction should have reported the owner of this mare to law enforcement.
In the pen area, investigators observed as the typically rough workers used long wooden poles to hit
and poke horses with great force, whacking them senselessly on the backside. Eventually this caused
horses to rush forward, knocking down a closed gate. One horse escaped while a draft horse went
down, its legs thoroughly wedged in the gate. The Amish workers stood by and watched as the frantic
horse whirled its legs at great speed for several minutes until it was finally able to get up, though with
one leg still entangled in the gate. It took several more minutes to disengage the horse’s leg.
By luck the horse did not appear to be injured (though the auction veterinarian was never observed
checking the horse), nor was the horse trampled during the sustained uproar.
We called the Tuscarawas Humane Society in regards to the emaciated horse with tag #739. We left a
message and ask them to return our call, which they did not. After several other attempts finally
someone returned our call and informed us that their Humane Officers wouldn’t go to Sugarcreek
Auction anymore, because “the owner has a gun and the situation there is too dangerous”
The emaciated mare, hip # 739 was rescued by an OH horse rescue. She was treated for colic and
shock. Unfortunately, her condition deteriorated and she had to be euthanized.
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Date: 5/5/10
Observations:
There were approx.151 horses present that day. A few were very thin and some had strangles.
Investigators observed one emaciated, black horse unable to bear weight on all 4 legs. He was
holding his left hind leg up and appeared to be in obvious distress.
A few horses went down again when workers were moving the horses from the pens to the auction
ring. Investigators called Sugarcreek Police Department to report the condition of the horse, which
should have never been brought to the auction in this condition. Cruelty charges should be filed
against the owner. Chief Kevin Kazar went to the auction, but left without doing anything after Baker
promised him to “take care of it”. No charges were filed.
Date: 7/10/10
Observations:
Investigators observed a draft horse down in one of the isles. One of the employees was holding the
horse’s tail up and started to poke the horse below the tail with a long stick and kicking the animal.
After a few minutes of unsuccessful poking and kicking, the employee reached for an electric prod
and started using it excessively. He was stopped by an outraged observer who coaxed and pulled the
horse by the halter. Eventually, the horse was able to rise.
Date: 7/16/10
Observations:
A truck with Ohio plates and a green trailer backed up to the loading ramp and unloaded two horses.
One of the horses had cuts all over its face and a few pieces of duct tape attached to the buttock. Dried
blood that had dripped down its back legs was visible. The horse (tag #645) was limping as it walked
down the isle to the veterinarians, who were drawing blood for Coggins Testing. As the injured horse
walked past them, the female veterinarian briefly looked at the horse, but didn’t check his injuries.
The horse was moved into the “loose” horse pen, which had no access to water and was overcrowded
with horses as usual. The temperature that day was 91 degrees. After a while, the duct tape fell off
due to other horses rubbing on it and the injury became more visible.
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It was a very deep cut. A few other horses ended up with blood all over them, because their sides
were rubbing against the injury in the overcrowded pen. The horses were continuously kicking and
biting each other. Nobody from the auction bothered to check on the injured horse. When the sale
started the horse was moved through the ring with the other horses. It was purchased by Baker for
$20.00.
Since past experience had shown that the Sugarcreek police is not willing to enforce animal protection
laws, we decided to call the new Humane Officer in charge from the Tuscarawas County Humane
Society. Unfortunately, he could not be reached and did not return our phone call.
Date: 9/10/10
Observations:
Investigators noticed that Baker had set up a temporary pen in the back of the parking lot. The pen
was filled with approx. 30 horses with green USDA slaughter tags waiting to be shipped for slaughter.
One horse had his hind leg wrapped from an injury. One black horse had a BLM freeze brand on its
neck. Inside the auction were approx. 175 horses. The pens were very crowded. The handling was
completely unacceptable. A horse fell down behind the auction ring and the other horses kept moving
over it. Investigators yelled to the handler that there was a horse down. He looked up, but did nothing
to help the horse. We yelled again that the down horse was being trampled. The handler still did
nothing to help the horse. As the handlers continued to hit the horses in the face to try to move them
to the auction ring, a second horse fell to the ground, but it managed to get up. The other horse was
still down under a group of 6 or 7 agitated horses. The situation remained that way for 10 long
minutes, until all the other horses had been moved through the auction ring. The horse was still down
and handlers kicked it numerous times before it was able to rise and slowly walk down the isle. No
one checked to see if the horse had any injuries.
Date: 1/14/11
Observations:
There were approx 100 horses for sale, many of them were pregnant and several were limping. Baker
had 22 horses in his kill pen and some pregnant ones had already been tagged for slaughter. All horses
were sold in 30 minutes with Baker buying most of them. The moving of the horses to the auction
ring remains a major concern; investigators saw multiple horses slip, fall or being trampled by others.
The Amish workers hit them in the face with full force, causing panic and confusion. Yelling, kicking
and the loud banging on the wooden pens add to the agitation. One horse went down in the alley and
was trampled by the rest. Our requests to address the situation were ignored.
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Date: 1/21/11
Observations:
In the parking lot investigators found 2 dead horses, one with a slaughter tag still attached. One aged
Amish Belgian was covered in terrible sores from a harness and being whipped. He was sold to
Baker for $200. During the moving to the auction ring, one sorrel fell and was trampled by the other
horses that were trapped in the aisle with him. Investigators noticed that when he got up, he had
sustained a leg injury in the mayhem and was severely limping.

Date: 2/18/11
Observations:
The situation remains unchanged at the weekly Sugarcreek auction. In one of the back pens,
investigators found one horse tied up between cows. One of his eyes was missing, and the other eye
was severely infected. The eye loss appeared to be very recent. The horse did not go through the sale
and had no tags attached. The auction refused to provide any information about the animal. Behind
the auction ring entrance, auction employees were again observed hitting horses with full force across
face and moving too many horses at one time. Again, one horse went down and was trampled by
others. It managed to get up, but was limping. One paint horse panicked and hit his head on the low
ceiling resulting in a strong bleeding forehead injury.
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Conclusion:
Our investigations and research show that Leroy Baker has been violating state and federal animal
protection laws as well as federal motor carrier safety regulations for many years. In 2008, Baker was
convicted and ordered to pay a fine of 162,800.00 USD, which he still has not paid. For other severe
violations, he was never charged in the first place. How is it possible that someone with a long list of
violations and such a high unpaid fine is still allowed to operate? How is it possible that despite the
well documented abuse at Sugarcreek Livestock Auction local law enforcement and humane agencies
are not willing to file charges against Baker or even attempt to work with him on improving the
conditions at his auction?
The Office of the Inspector General recommended in the September 2010 audit report about the
Slaughter Horse Transport Program that APHIS should withhold endorsement of shipping papers for
slaughter horses until prior offenders have paid their fines. Unfortunately, this would require an
amendment of the current Transport of Equines to Slaughter Regulations, which most likely will take
years. Meanwhile, Baker will continue to ship over 3000 horses/year to slaughter.
With all other venues exhausted, it will take pressure from the American public to improve conditions
at Sugarcreek Auction. If enough people contact those in charge of enforcing the existing protection
laws and urge them to do their job, they will have to react.
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